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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND 

14735 Main Street, Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20772 

 

 

KEISHA HUDSON,      

   c/o Justly Prudent     

   16701 Melford Blvd., Suite 400 

   Bowie, Maryland 20715    

              

 Plaintiff,     

        

 v.      

       

PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MD, 

   Serve By Private Process On:     

   c/o Office of Law    

   1301 McCormick Drive, Suite 4100, 

   Largo, Maryland 20774    

       

AVERY JOHNSON, 

   Serve By Private Process On:     

   c/o Office of Law    

   1301 McCormick Drive, Suite 4100, 

   Largo, Maryland 20774    

       

TAMARA JOHNSON, 

   Serve By Private Process On:     

   c/o Office of Law    

   1301 McCormick Drive, Suite 4100, 

   Largo, Maryland 20774       

       

 Defendants.     

____________________________________/ 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DISCRIMINATION 

 

 Plaintiff Keisha Grace Hudson (“Ms. Hudson”), for her complaint against Defendants 

Prince George’s County, Maryland (the “County”), Avery Johnson, and Tamara Johnson, alleges 

the following: 

1. Keisha Hudson is a correctional officer. For years, she reported to work, carried 

out her duties, and served the residents of Prince George’s County without incident. But when 
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she dared to speak up by filing a formal complaint of discrimination after a fellow officer 

revealed that her supervisor harbored animus toward her because of the color of her skin, the 

machinery of retaliation began to turn.  

2. Within days, the Department of Corrections initiated disciplinary proceedings 

against her for an incident that had occurred months earlier, an incident in which the individual at 

issue did not die on her watch. Three other officers were charged with the identical offense. All 

three were acquitted. Ms. Hudson alone was found guilty—by a hearing board stacked with close 

friends of the very supervisor she had accused of discrimination.  

3. One board member later revealed that he had voted to acquit Ms. Hudson, only to 

be told by the board’s chairman that “his vote didn’t count.” Another board member was 

pressured to change his vote to guilty. The outcome was predetermined. The process was 

corrupted. And the message was unmistakable: file a complaint, and you will pay the price. 

4. Ms. Hudson brings this action to seek redress for race discrimination based on the 

color of her skin, sex discrimination, retaliation for engaging in protected activity, and hostile 

work environment, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 

42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., Section 1 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, codified as 42 U.S.C. § 

1981, Section 1 of the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871, codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and Maryland 

law. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The Court has jurisdiction over this action under Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. 

Proc. § 1-501. 
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6. Venue is proper in this Court under Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 6-201 

because the County carries out its governmental functions in Prince George’s County and the 

causes of action at issue arose within Prince George’s County, Maryland. 

THE PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Keisha Grace Hudson is an African American woman and a resident of 

Prince George’s County, Maryland. Ms. Hudson is employed by Prince George’s County 

Department of Corrections as a Private First Class, and she is assigned to the Regional 

Processing Unit within the Special Operations Division. 

8. Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland is a municipal corporation duly 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Maryland. The County operates the Prince 

George’s County Department of Corrections (the “Department” or “DOC”), which is located in 

Upper Marlboro, Maryland. The County’s Charter provides that Prince George’s County shall be 

the named party in all actions and proceedings touching its rights, powers, properties, liabilities, 

and duties. 

9. Defendant Avery Johnson is a correctional officer employed by the Department of 

Corrections with the rank of Captain. Defendant Avery Johnson is sued in his individual capacity 

for claims arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1981. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant 

Avery Johnson served as Chairman of the Administrative Hearing Board convened to adjudicate 

charges against Ms. Hudson arising from the March 23, 2025 incident. Defendant Avery Johnson 

is a known personal friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson, the supervisor who is the subject of 

Ms. Hudson’s formal discrimination complaint. Upon information and belief, Defendant Avery 

Johnson resides in Prince George’s County, Maryland. 
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10. Defendant Tamara Johnson is a correctional officer employed by the Department 

of Corrections with the rank of Sergeant. Defendant Tamara Johnson is sued in her individual 

capacity for claims arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1981. At all times relevant to this complaint, 

Defendant Tamara Johnson served as a supervisor within the Regional Processing Unit and 

directly supervised Ms. Hudson. Upon information and belief, Defendant Tamara Johnson 

resides in Prince George’s County, Maryland. 

Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies 

11. On or about January 24, 2026, Ms. Hudson filed a Charge of Discrimination with 

the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), Charge No. 531-

2026-01809, asserting claims of race discrimination, sex discrimination, retaliation, and hostile 

work environment against the County. 

12. On February 6, 2026, upon Ms. Hudson’s request, the EEOC issued a 

Determination and Notice of Rights, authorizing Ms. Hudson to file a civil action within 90 days 

of receipt.  

13. This complaint is timely filed within the 90-day period prescribed by 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e-5(f)(1). 

BACKGROUND 

14. Ms. Hudson began working at Prince George’s County Department of Corrections 

on June 22, 2020. She is assigned to the Regional Processing Unit within the Special Operations 

Division, where she works Shift I (11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.). While working in the Regional 

Processing Unit, Ms. Hudson maintained the ability to work as a correctional officer. During her 

tenure in the Regional Processing Unit, Ms. Hudson has received commendations for her 

performance. 
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15. Throughout her tenure with the Department, Ms. Hudson performed her duties 

faithfully and without material incident. 

16. Defendant Tamara Johnson served as a supervisor within the Regional Processing 

Unit and directly supervised Ms. Hudson. Beginning in or around early 2025, Defendant Tamara 

Johnson engaged in a pattern of hostile and discriminatory conduct directed at Ms. Hudson. 

17. On May 23, 2025, during a routine encounter in the course of their duties, Ms. 

Hudson questioned a directive issued by Defendant Tamara Johnson concerning the use of Ms. 

Hudson’s full social security number. In response, Defendant Tamara Johnson physically bumped 

Ms. Hudson with her body. The physical contact was unprovoked and unnecessary, and it 

signaled a level of personal hostility that went far beyond any legitimate supervisory 

disagreement. 

18. On June 1, 2025, Sergeant Watson, a fellow officer, informed Ms. Hudson that the 

unfair treatment she had been receiving from Defendant Tamara Johnson was “because [you’re] 

light skin.” Sergeant Watson made this statement in the presence of two witnesses: Sergeant 

Clark (badge number #970) and Corporal Harmon (badge number #1085). Sergeant Watson’s 

statement revealed that Defendant Tamara Johnson’s hostility toward Ms. Hudson was motivated 

by racial animus; specifically, colorism directed at Ms. Hudson on account of her light skin 

complexion. 

19. On June 4, 2025, Ms. Hudson filed a formal written discrimination and 

harassment complaint against Defendant Tamara Johnson. Ms. Hudson submitted her complaint 

to Lieutenant Colonel Maximay (badge number #853), Captain Dixon (badge number #819), and 

Lieutenant Lee (badge number #837). 
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20. In her written complaint, Ms. Hudson documented the following: (a) the May 23, 

2025 physical bumping incident; (b) the colorism-based comments relayed by Sergeant Watson 

regarding Defendant Tamara Johnson’s discriminatory animus toward Ms. Hudson based on her 

light skin complexion; and (c) the ongoing pattern of hostile conduct directed at Ms. Hudson by 

Defendant Tamara Johnson. 

21. Ms. Hudson’s filing of the June 4, 2025 discrimination complaint constituted 

protected activity under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Maryland Fair Employment 

Practices Act, the Prince George’s County Code, and 42 U.S.C. § 1981. 

22. On July 15, 2025, having received no response to her complaint in the six weeks 

since she submitted it, Ms. Hudson followed up with the Department’s Human Resources 

Division. Kevin M. Easton, the Acting Chief of the Human Resources Division, confirmed that 

he had received Ms. Hudson’s complaint and stated that he would forward it to the Office of 

Professional Responsibility and Legal Affairs (“OPRLA”) for investigation. 

The Retaliation Begins: The Initial Notice of Disciplinary Action 

23. On March 23, 2025, more than two months before Ms. Hudson filed her 

discrimination complaint, an incarcerated individual (“I/I Rouse”) was brought to the Regional 

Processing Unit during Shift II (7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.) by his arresting officer. Later that day, 

during Shift I (11:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.), Ms. Hudson and Corporal Lowery conducted an inmate 

count. During the count, Ms. Hudson held the door open while Cpl. Lowery entered Cell 4 to 

check I/I Rouse’s armband and to ensure that he was safe and alive.  

24. During Ms. Hudson’s shift, I/I Rouse was alert, ambulatory, and communicated 

clearly with both the District Court Commissioner and the Panel Attorney. I/I Rouse received a 

bond. At no point during Ms. Hudson’s shift did I/I Rouse request medical attention. 
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25. On July 21, 2025, just six days after Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint was 

forwarded to OPRLA for investigation, Ms. Hudson received an Initial Notice of Disciplinary 

Action Recommendation (“IDAR”) related to the March 23, 2025 incident. The charge was 

“Dereliction of Duty (Failure to Provide Medical Assistance)” under Prince George’s County 

Personnel Law 16-164(a), 1 and 2. 

26. The timing of the IDAR was suspicious. The incident underlying the charge had 

occurred nearly four months earlier, on March 23, 2025. No disciplinary action had been initiated 

during those four months. It was not until Ms. Hudson engaged in protected activity that the 

Department elected to pursue disciplinary charges against her. The temporal proximity between 

the referral of Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint to OPRLA and the issuance of the IDAR 

gives rise to a strong inference of retaliatory motive. 

The Retaliatory Uniform Deficiency Notice 

27. On September 6, 2025, Ms. Hudson was issued a Uniform Deficiency Notice by 

Sergeant Bell-Riley (badge number #968) for allegedly having “bright red” hair color in 

violation of the Department’s appearance standards. 

28. Ms. Hudson had worn the same hair color for several months without incident. No 

supervisor and no member of the command staff had previously cited Ms. Hudson for her hair 

color or directed her to change it. 

29. Sergeant Bell-Riley is a known personal friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson, the 

supervisor who is the subject of Ms. Hudson’s formal discrimination complaint. 

30. At the time Sergeant Bell-Riley issued the deficiency notice to Ms. Hudson, 

Sergeant Bell-Riley was herself wearing bright purple fingernail polish with decorative stones 

and blonde hair. Sergeant Bell-Riley’s appearance constituted violations of the same appearance 



 

Page 8 of 33 

 

standards she cited against Ms. Hudson. The selective enforcement of appearance standards 

against Ms. Hudson, by a friend of the supervisor she had accused of discrimination, constituted 

further retaliation. 

31. Director Terence K. Clark subsequently confirmed that Ms. Hudson was not 

required to change her hair color, noting that at least five other officers wore red hair without 

being cited for uniform deficiencies. The deficiency notice was, by the Director’s own implicit 

acknowledgment, unwarranted. 

The Administrative Hearing Board: A Corrupted Process 

32. A three-day Administrative Hearing Board (the “Board”) was convened from 

November 24 through November 26, 2025, to adjudicate the Dereliction of Duty charges arising 

from the March 23, 2025 incident. 

33. Four officers were charged with the “Dereliction of Duty (Failure to Provide 

Medical Assistance)” offense in connection with the same incident: Ms. Hudson, a Private First 

Class; Corporal Lowery, a Black male; PFC Shorter, a Black male; and Lieutenant Hayes, a 

Black female. The Prince George’s County Department of Corrections operates as a paramilitary 

organization with a rigid chain of command in which rank determines supervisory authority, 

institutional standing, and the degree of deference afforded to an officer by peers, subordinates, 

and command staff. The rank of Lieutenant is a commissioned supervisory rank that is 

substantially senior to the rank of Private First Class, and officers holding the rank of Lieutenant 

occupy a fundamentally different position within the Department’s institutional hierarchy than 

officers holding the rank of PFC. The difference between these ranks is not nominal, it reflects a 

significant disparity in authority, seniority, and the institutional relationships that an officer 

maintains with other members of the command structure 
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34. The composition of the Board raised immediate and serious concerns. The Board 

was chaired by Defendant Avery Johnson, who was a known personal friend of Defendant 

Tamara Johnson Johnson, the subject of Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint. Lieutenant 

Keyia Rodriguez, also a known friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson, served as a Board member. 

The remaining Board members were PFC Hall and Corporal Ogunraiyewa. 

35. Of the four officers charged with the identical offense arising from the identical 

incident, Ms. Hudson was the only officer found guilty. Corporal Lowery, PFC Shorter, and 

Lieutenant Hayes were found not guilty despite having the same or greater exposure to I/I Rouse 

during the relevant time period. 

36. The sole factor distinguishing Ms. Hudson from her co-accused officers was that 

Ms. Hudson had filed a formal discrimination complaint against Defendant Tamara Johnson, 

whose close personal friends sat in judgment of Ms. Hudson’s case. 

37. Ms. Hudson was the only female officer of comparable rank among the charged 

officers. Corporal Lowery and PFC Shorter, the two male officers who held ranks comparable to 

Ms. Hudson’s rank, were both acquitted on the identical charge. Although Lieutenant Hayes, a 

female officer, was also acquitted, Lieutenant Hayes held a commissioned supervisory rank 

substantially senior to Ms. Hudson’s and is therefore not an appropriate comparator for purposes 

of assessing sex-based disparate treatment. Officers holding the rank of Lieutenant occupy a 

different tier within the Department’s paramilitary hierarchy and receive a qualitatively different 

degree of institutional deference from hearing board members, who themselves hold ranks within 

the commissioned officer structure. When the comparison is properly drawn among officers of 

comparable rank (i.e., Private First Class and Corporal), Ms. Hudson was the sole female officer, 

and she was the sole officer found guilty. The selective imposition of discipline against the only 
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female officer at the PFC level, while two male officers of comparable rank were acquitted on 

the identical charge arising from the identical incident, gives rise to an inference of sex-based 

discrimination. 

38. Following the Board’s verdict, evidence emerged that the outcome was the 

product of improper influence and manipulation by Defendant Avery Johnson and Lieutenant 

Rodriguez. 

39. Corporal Ogunraiyewa, the fourth Board member, disclosed that he voted “not 

guilty” as to all four officers, including Ms. Hudson. Corporal Ogunraiyewa stated that 

Defendant Avery Johnson told him that “his vote didn’t count.” 

40. Master Corporal Fagins, a former Union President who served as Ms. Hudson’s 

union representative during the Board proceedings, was informed that Defendant Avery Johnson 

and Lieutenant Rodriguez pressured PFC Hall to change his vote to “guilty” as to Ms. Hudson. 

41. On the night the verdict was rendered, Sergeant Daisy Powell independently 

reported to Ms. Hudson, her attorney, and union officials that during a prior Board on which she 

had served, “the Captains [were] pressuring her to change her position.” This account 

corroborated the pattern of coercive conduct by Defendant Avery Johnson in Board proceedings. 

42. The Board’s outcome was not the product of an impartial adjudicative process, as 

demonstrated by the combined effect of (a) the placement of Defendant Tamara Johnson’s 

friends in positions of judgment over the officer who had accused her of discrimination, (b) the 

dismissal of a dissenting board member’s vote, (c) the pressure campaign to secure a guilty 

verdict, and (d) the singling out of Ms. Hudson as the sole officer convicted. It was an act of 

retaliation. 
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The Final Discipline: Suspension Without Pay 

43. On December 17, 2025, Director Terence K. Clark issued a Final Notice of 

Disciplinary Action against Ms. Hudson. Director Clark accepted the Board’s findings and 

imposed the following sanction: a ten-day suspension without pay, with an additional ten days of 

suspension held in abeyance contingent upon Ms. Hudson not receiving any subsequent 

approved OPRLA investigations for a period of one year. 

44. The discipline was imposed notwithstanding that the Board process had been 

corrupted by the participation and coercive conduct of Defendant Avery Johnson and Lieutenant 

Rodriguez, and notwithstanding that the incarcerated individual did not die during Ms. Hudson’s 

shift. 

45. During the period of suspension, Ms. Hudson was denied access to the facility, 

prohibited from working overtime, and prohibited from participating in any work exchange or 

compensatory time program. 

The Hostile Work Environment Continues 

46. Since filing her discrimination complaint on June 4, 2025, Ms. Hudson has been 

subjected to a persistent and escalating pattern of harassment and hostile treatment that has 

fundamentally altered the terms and conditions of her employment. 

47. Defendant Tamara Johnson issued Ms. Hudson consistently negative monthly 

performance evaluations containing comments that Ms. Hudson “needs improvement,” without 

providing any supervisory guidance, mentoring, or assistance to address the purported 

deficiencies. Ms. Hudson did not receive comparable negative evaluations prior to filing her 

discrimination complaint, and similarly situated officers who did not file discrimination 

complaints did not receive comparable evaluations from Defendant Tamara Johnson. 
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48. Following Ms. Hudson’s formal complaint, the Department selectively enforced 

appearance standards against Ms. Hudson while permitting other officers to wear red or blonde 

hair, wear colorful nail polish, display visible tattoos, have nose piercings, and wear beards when 

that was prohibited. The Department did not normally issue citations or infractions based upon 

violations of these appearance standards. 

49. Ms. Hudson was subjected to a corrupted disciplinary process in which Board 

members with undisclosed personal relationships to the subject of her discrimination complaint 

were permitted to sit in judgment of her case, and those Board members employed coercive 

tactics to secure a guilty verdict against her alone. 

Post-Discipline Retaliation: Ongoing Hostile Conditions 

50. The retaliatory conduct did not cease following Ms. Hudson’s suspension. On or 

about February 2026, the Department assigned Sergeant Bell-Riley to the Intake unit on Shift III, 

Ms. Hudson’s work area. 

51. Upon information and belief, the leadership of the Intake unit had the discretion to 

assign any available sergeant to the unit but chose Sergeant Bell-Riley. At the time, the 

leadership of the Intake unit knew that Sergeant Bell-Riley was a close associate of the 

supervisor Ms. Hudson had accused of discrimination, and they knew that Sergeant Bell-Riley 

had previously written Ms. Hudson up for wearing red hair. 

52. Additionally, Sergeant Watson subsequently told Ms. Hudson to leave Regional 

Intake, stating that “they don’t like you because you’re light-skinned.” Sergeant Watson is the 

same officer who had disclosed Defendant Tamara Johnson’s colorism-based animus toward Ms. 

Hudson. Officer Harmon reported Sergeant Watson’s statement to OPRLA and provided a 

truthful statement regarding Sergeant Watson’s remarks. 
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53. Ms. Hudson has further been informed by colleagues that certain members of the 

Department’s leadership, including Defendant Avery Johnson, Defendant Tamara Johnson, 

Sergeant Bell-Riley, Lieutenant Rodriguez, Sergeant Watson, Colonel Maximay, Lieutenant 

Corey Thomas, and Captain Jason Grimes, are hostile toward her and that this hostility stems 

from her decision to file the discrimination complaint. Upon information and belief, Colonel 

Maximay, who oversees the Security Division and has authority over personnel assignments 

within Intake, has refused to make impartial assignment decisions because of his personal 

relationships with the individuals who are hostile toward Ms. Hudson. 

54. The Department’s leadership has also indicated a desire to reassign Ms. Hudson 

because, in the words relayed to Ms. Hudson, she “writes too much.” Ms. Hudson understood 

this statement to be a reference to her documented complaints of discrimination and harassment. 

HARM CAUSED 

55. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Ms. 

Hudson has suffered and continues to suffer significant harm. 

56. Ms. Hudson was subjected to a ten-day suspension without pay, resulting in a 

direct loss of wages and benefits. 

57. Ms. Hudson was further subjected to an additional ten days of suspension held in 

abeyance for a period of one year, contingent upon her not receiving any subsequent approved 

OPRLA investigations. This conditional sanction operates as a continuing threat of additional 

punishment, chilling Ms. Hudson’s willingness to report future incidents of discrimination, 

harassment, or misconduct and effectively penalizing her for exercising her rights. 

58. During her suspension, Ms. Hudson was denied access to the correctional facility, 

prohibited from working overtime, and prohibited from participating in any work exchange or 
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compensatory time program. These restrictions compounded her financial losses and imposed 

additional professional consequences beyond the suspension itself. 

59. Ms. Hudson has suffered significant emotional distress, humiliation, and mental 

anguish as a result of Defendants’ conduct. She has endured the indignity of being singled out for 

punishment by a tribunal composed of her accuser’s friends, while three co-accused officers 

walked free on the identical charge. She has been forced to continue working in an environment 

where the supervisors and colleagues who orchestrated her discipline remain in positions of 

authority over her, and where the Department’s leadership has made clear that her decision to 

report discrimination will not be tolerated. 

60. Ms. Hudson’s professional reputation within the Department has been damaged 

by the guilty finding and the resulting disciplinary record. The Final Notice of Disciplinary 

Action is now part of Ms. Hudson’s permanent personnel file, where it will affect her eligibility 

for promotions, desirable assignments, and other career advancement opportunities for the 

foreseeable future. 

61. On or around February 2026, Ms. Hudson applied for a Corporal position but was 

informed that she was not allowed to take the Corporal test because of the incident involving I/I 

Rouse incident. 

62. The consistently negative performance evaluations issued by Defendant Tamara 

Johnson following Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint have further damaged Ms. Hudson’s 

professional standing and have created a documentary record that may be used to justify future 

adverse employment actions against her. 

63. The cumulative effect of Defendants’ conduct has fundamentally altered the terms 

and conditions of Ms. Hudson’s employment. Ms. Hudson now works in an environment 
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permeated by hostility, where supervisors aligned with the individual she accused of 

discrimination have been strategically placed in her chain of command, where her complaints are 

treated as insubordination rather than protected activity, and where the threat of further 

retaliation looms over every shift. 

COUNT I 

Retaliation in Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

64. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

65. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, prohibits employers from 

retaliating against employees who engage in certain protected activities, which include opposing 

unlawful discriminatory practices, making a complaint of discrimination whether through formal 

or informal channels, or participating in proceedings related to complaints of discrimination 

based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

66. Ms. Hudson engaged in protected activity when she filed a formal written 

discrimination and harassment complaint against Defendant Tamara Johnson on June 4, 2025, 

opposing conduct she reasonably believed constituted unlawful race discrimination based on 

colorism. Ms. Hudson’s complaint was forwarded to OPRLA for investigation on or about July 

15, 2025. 

67. Following Ms. Hudson’s protected activity, the County, acting through its 

supervisors, officers, and agents at the Department of Corrections, subjected Ms. Hudson to a 

series of adverse employment actions, including: (a) the issuance of the Initial Notice of 

Disciplinary Action Recommendation on July 21, 2025, only six days after Ms. Hudson’s 

complaint was forwarded to OPRLA; (b) the issuance of the retaliatory Uniform Deficiency 
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Notice on September 6, 2025, by a known friend of the supervisor Ms. Hudson had accused of 

discrimination; (c) the convening of an Administrative Hearing Board from November 24 

through November 26, 2025, composed in substantial part of close personal friends of Defendant 

Tamara Johnson, which found Ms. Hudson guilty while acquitting three co-accused officers on 

the identical charge; (d) the imposition of a ten-day suspension without pay and an additional ten 

days held in abeyance on December 17, 2025; (e) the issuance of consistently negative 

performance evaluations by Defendant Tamara Johnson following Ms. Hudson’s complaint; the 

strategic assignment of Sergeant Bell-Riley to Ms. Hudson’s work area; and (f) the ongoing 

pattern of hostility and intimidation directed at Ms. Hudson by members of the Department’s 

leadership. 

68. Each of the adverse actions referenced in paragraph 67 would dissuade a 

reasonable employee in Ms. Hudson’s position from engaging in protected activity under Title 

VII. 

69. A causal connection exists between Ms. Hudson’s protected activity and the 

adverse actions taken against her. The March 23, 2025 incident underlying the Dereliction of 

Duty charge occurred nearly four months before the IDAR was issued, yet no disciplinary action 

was initiated until six days after Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint was referred to OPRLA. 

The Uniform Deficiency Notice was issued by a friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson for a hair 

color Ms. Hudson had worn for months without incident. The Administrative Hearing Board was 

chaired by a friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson who manipulated the process to secure a guilty 

verdict against Ms. Hudson alone. The temporal proximity between Ms. Hudson’s protected 

activity and the adverse actions, the involvement of Defendant Tamara Johnson’s associates in 
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each retaliatory act, and the disparate treatment of Ms. Hudson relative to her co-accused officers 

collectively establish a causal nexus between the protected activity and the retaliation. 

70. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s retaliation, Ms. Hudson has 

suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT II 

Discrimination in Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

71. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

72. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, prohibits employers from 

discriminating against employees on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment. 

73. Ms. Hudson is a member of a protected class under Title VII based on her status 

as an African American woman with a light skin complexion. 

74. The County, acting through its supervisors, officers, and agents at the Department 

of Corrections, discriminated against Ms. Hudson on the basis of her race, skin color, and sex. 

Defendant Tamara Johnson harbored animus toward Ms. Hudson because of her light skin 

complexion, a fact disclosed by Sergeant Watson to Ms. Hudson in the presence of two witnesses 

on June 1, 2025. This racial animus manifested in Defendant Tamara Johnson’s pattern of hostile 

conduct toward Ms. Hudson, as referenced in paragraph 67, including the physical bumping 

incident on May 23, 2025, the consistently negative performance evaluations, and the 

mobilization of Defendant Tamara Johnson’s network of personal friends to carry out retaliatory 

acts against Ms. Hudson after she reported the discrimination. 
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75. Ms. Hudson was subjected to adverse employment actions motivated by race-

based animus, including the IDAR, the corrupted Administrative Hearing Board process, and the 

resulting suspension without pay. Three co-accused officers (Corporal Lowery, PFC Shorter, and 

Lieutenant Hayes) were charged with the identical offense arising from the identical incident and 

were found not guilty. Ms. Hudson was the only officer found guilty. Among the officers of 

comparable rank, Ms. Hudson was the sole female officer charged, and she was the sole officer 

convicted. Lieutenant Hayes, although female, held a commissioned supervisory rank 

substantially senior to Ms. Hudson’s and occupied a qualitatively different position within the 

Department’s institutional hierarchy, such that her acquittal does not negate the inference that sex 

was a motivating factor in the Board’s disparate treatment of Ms. Hudson relative to the male 

officers of comparable rank who were acquitted on the identical charge 

76. The disparate outcome is not explained by any legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

factor. Ms. Hudson was singled out because of her sex and because of the colorism-based animus 

harbored by Defendant Tamara Johnson and carried forward by her associates who occupied 

positions on the Board and within the Department’s chain of command. The selective imposition 

of discipline against the sole female officer of comparable rank, while two male officers of 

equivalent or near-equivalent rank were acquitted, gives rise to an inference of sex-based 

discrimination. The acquittal of Lieutenant Hayes does not defeat this inference because 

Lieutenant Hayes was not similarly situated to Ms. Hudson in all material respects. Lieutenant 

Hayes held a supervisory rank that afforded her a different degree of institutional standing and 

deference within the Department’s paramilitary command structure. 

77. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s retaliation, Ms. Hudson has 

suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 
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COUNT III 

Hostile Work Environment in Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

78. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

79. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, prohibits employers from 

subjecting employees to a hostile work environment based on race, color, religion, sex, or 

national origin. 

80. Ms. Hudson has been subjected to unwelcome conduct based on her race, skin 

color, and sex, and in retaliation for her protected activity, that is sufficiently severe or pervasive 

to alter the terms and conditions of her employment and create an abusive working environment. 

81. The hostile conduct directed at Ms. Hudson includes both conduct motivated by 

racial animus and conduct motivated by retaliatory animus, which were inextricably intertwined 

and collectively created an abusive working environment. The conduct motivated by racial 

animus, specifically colorism directed at Ms. Hudson on account of her light skin complexion, 

includes the following: (a) Defendant Tamara Johnson’s pattern of hostile and discriminatory 

treatment of Ms. Hudson beginning in or around early 2025, which was motivated by animus 

toward Ms. Hudson because of her light skin complexion, as disclosed by Sergeant Watson on 

June 1, 2025 in the presence of two witnesses; (b) Defendant Tamara Johnson’s physical 

bumping of Ms. Hudson on May 23, 2025, which occurred in the context of the ongoing pattern 

of racially motivated hostility; (c) Defendant Tamara Johnson’s issuance of consistently negative 

monthly performance evaluations without supervisory guidance, mentoring, or opportunity for 

improvement, which evaluations were not consistent with Ms. Hudson’s prior performance 

record and were not imposed on similarly situated officers who did not share Ms. Hudson’s light 
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skin complexion; (d) Sergeant Watson’s statement to Ms. Hudson in or around February 2026 

that she should leave Regional Intake because ‘they don’t like you because you’re light-skinned,’ 

which confirmed that the hostility directed at Ms. Hudson by members of the Department’s 

leadership was motivated by racial animus related to her skin color; (e) the issuance of a 

retaliatory IDAR on July 21, 2025, six days after Ms. Hudson’s discrimination complaint was 

forwarded to OPRLA, for an incident that had occurred nearly four months earlier without any 

disciplinary action being initiated; (f) the selective enforcement of appearance standards against 

Ms. Hudson by Sergeant Bell-Riley, a known friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson, on 

September 6, 2025, while Sergeant Bell-Riley herself was in violation of those same standards; 

(g) the convening of an Administrative Hearing Board composed in substantial part of Defendant 

Tamara Johnson’s personal friends, who manipulated the adjudicative process to convict Ms. 

Hudson while acquitting three co-accused officers on the identical charge; (h) the imposition of a 

ten-day suspension without pay and an additional ten days held in abeyance; (i) the strategic 

assignment of Sergeant Bell-Riley to Ms. Hudson’s work area in or around February 2026; and 

(j) the ongoing pattern of hostility from members of the Department’s leadership, including 

Defendant Avery Johnson, Defendant Tamara Johnson, Sergeant Bell-Riley, Lieutenant 

Rodriguez, Sergeant Watson, Colonel Maximay, Lieutenant Corey Thomas, and Captain Jason 

Grimes, which hostility was directed at Ms. Hudson because of her decision to file a 

discrimination complaint. The racially motivated and retaliatory acts were not independent 

courses of conduct but were part of a single, coordinated campaign of hostility in which 

Defendant Tamara Johnson’s racial animus toward Ms. Hudson provided the initial motive and 

Ms. Hudson’s decision to oppose that discrimination provided the accelerant. 
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82. Ms. Hudson subjectively perceived her work environment to be hostile, 

intimidating, and abusive. The cumulative weight of the racially motivated hostility from 

Defendant Tamara Johnson, the retaliatory discipline orchestrated by Defendant Tamara 

Johnson’s associates, and the persistent atmosphere of hostility and intimidation caused Ms. 

Hudson to experience fear, anxiety, and humiliation each time she reported for duty. Ms. Hudson 

dreaded interactions with supervisors and colleagues whom she knew to be aligned with 

Defendant Tamara Johnson and hostile toward her because of her race and her decision to report 

discrimination. The hostile conditions fundamentally altered Ms. Hudson’s experience of her 

employment and made it materially more difficult for her to perform her duties. 

83. The County had actual knowledge of the hostile work environment. Ms. Hudson 

filed a formal written complaint on June 4, 2025, which was submitted to three members of the 

command staff by name: Lieutenant Colonel Maximay, Captain Dixon, and Lieutenant Lee. Ms. 

Hudson followed up with the Acting Chief of Human Resources on July 15, 2025, who 

confirmed receipt. Despite this actual knowledge, the County took no remedial action to address 

the hostile conditions. Instead, the Department escalated the hostility through retaliatory 

discipline, a corrupted hearing process, and the strategic placement of Defendant Tamara 

Johnson’s associates in supervisory positions over Ms. Hudson. The County’s response to Ms. 

Hudson’s complaint was not merely inadequate; it was itself a component of the hostile work 

environment. 

84. The racially motivated acts described in subparagraphs (a) through (j) were 

sufficiently severe and pervasive to alter the terms and conditions of Ms. Hudson’s employment 

and to create a working environment that a reasonable person in Ms. Hudson’s position would 

find hostile, intimidating, and abusive. 
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85. As a direct and proximate result of the hostile work environment created by the 

County, Ms. Hudson has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT IV 

Retaliation in Violation of the Maryland Fair Employment Practices Act 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

86. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

87. MFEPA makes it unlawful for an employer to “discriminate or retaliate against 

any person because the person has opposed any practice prohibited by [MFEPA], made a charge, 

testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under 

[MFEPA], or exercised or enjoyed any right granted or protected by [MFEPA].” 

88. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 66 through 69, incorporated herein, also 

establish that the County unlawfully retaliated against Ms. Hudson, in violation of MFEPA. 

89. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT V 

Discrimination in Violation of the Maryland Fair Employment Practices Act 

(Against Defendant County) 

90. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

91. MFEPA makes it unlawful for an employer to “fail or refuse to hire, discharge, or 

otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to the individual’s compensation, 

terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of the individual’s race.” Md. Code, 

State Gov’t § 20-606(a)(1). 
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92. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 67 and 73–76, incorporated herein, also 

establish that the County unlawfully discriminated against Ms. Hudson, in violation of MFEPA. 

93. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT VI 

Hostile Work Environment in Violation of the Maryland Fair Employment Practices Act 

(Against Defendant County) 

94. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

95. The Maryland Fair Employment Practices Act (“MFEPA”), Md. Code Ann., State 

Gov’t § 20-606(a)(1), prohibits employers from subjecting employees to a hostile work 

environment based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

96. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 80 through 83, incorporated herein, also 

establish that the County subjected Ms. Hudson to an unlawful hostile work environment, in 

violation of MFEPA. 

97. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT VII 

Retaliation in Violation of the Prince George’s County Code § 2-209 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

98. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

99. Under Maryland law, a person that is subjected to a retaliatory act prohibited by 

Prince George’s County Code may bring and maintain a civil action against the person that 

committed the alleged retaliatory act for damages, injunctive relief, or other civil relief. 
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100. Section 2-209 of the Prince George’s County Code prohibits an employer like the 

County from retaliating against employees who engage in certain protected activities, which 

include opposing unlawful discriminatory practices, making a complaint of discrimination 

whether through formal or informal channels, or participating in proceedings related to 

complaints of discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

101. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 66 through 69, incorporated herein, 

establish that the County unlawfully retaliated against Ms. Hudson, in violation of PGC Code § 

2-209. 

102. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT VIII 

Discrimination in Violation of the Prince George’s County Code § 2-222 

(Against Defendant County) 

103. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

104. Under Maryland law, a person that is subjected to a discriminatory act prohibited 

by Prince George’s County Code may bring and maintain a civil action against the person that 

committed the alleged discriminatory act for damages, injunctive relief, or other civil relief. 

105. Section 2-222 of the Prince George’s County Code prohibits discrimination in 

employment based on race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age, occupation, familial status, 

marital status, political opinion, personal appearance, sexual orientation, or physical or mental 

handicap. 
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106. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 67 and 73–76, incorporated herein, also 

establish that the County unlawfully discriminated against Ms. Hudson, in violation of PGC 

Code § 2-222. 

107. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT IX 

Hostile Work Environment in Violation of the Prince George’s County Code § 2-222 

(Against Defendant County) 

108. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

109. The Prince George’s County Code prohibits employers from subjecting an 

employee to a hostile work environment based on, among other things, the employee’s race or 

sex. 

110. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 80 through 83, incorporated herein, also 

establish that the County subjected Ms. Hudson to a hostile work environment based on her race 

and sex, in violation of PGC Code § 2-222. 

111. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Hudson 

has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT X 

Race Discrimination Based on Colorism in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

(Against Defendant Tamara Johnson) 

112. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

113. Section 1 of the Civil Rights of 1866, codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1981, guarantees to 

all persons the same right to make and enforce contracts, including employment contracts, as is 
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enjoyed by white citizens. The protections of Section 1981 extend to discrimination based on 

race, including discrimination based on skin color and colorism. 

114. Defendant Tamara Johnson personally participated in conduct that deprived Ms. 

Hudson of the equal benefit of her employment relationship on account of Ms. Hudson’s race 

and skin color. Defendant Tamara Johnson harbored animus toward Ms. Hudson specifically 

because of Ms. Hudson’s light skin complexion. This animus was disclosed by Sergeant Watson, 

who informed Ms. Hudson on June 1, 2025, in the presence of two witnesses, that Defendant 

Tamara Johnson’s unfair treatment of Ms. Hudson was “because [you’re] light skin.” 

115. Defendant Tamara Johnson’s racially motivated conduct included: (a) physically 

bumping Ms. Hudson on May 23, 2025; (b) issuing Ms. Hudson consistently negative monthly 

performance evaluations without supervisory guidance or mentoring, while similarly situated 

officers did not receive comparable evaluations; and (c) fostering an environment of hostility 

toward Ms. Hudson that emboldened Defendant Tamara Johnson’s associates to carry out further 

discriminatory and retaliatory acts against Ms. Hudson after she reported the discrimination. 

116. Defendant Tamara Johnson’s discriminatory treatment of Ms. Hudson impaired 

Ms. Hudson’s ability to perform and advance in her employment. The negative performance 

evaluations have become part of Ms. Hudson’s personnel record and will affect her eligibility for 

promotions and desirable assignments. The hostile conduct directed at Ms. Hudson by Defendant 

Tamara Johnson created conditions so intolerable that the terms and conditions of Ms. Hudson’s 

employment were fundamentally altered. 

117. Defendant Tamara Johnson’s conduct was intentionally discriminatory. Her 

actions were motivated by racial animus directed at Ms. Hudson because of Ms. Hudson’s light 

skin complexion, a characteristic inseparable from Ms. Hudson’s race. 
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118. Defendant Tamara Johnson’s conduct was willful, malicious, and/or undertaken 

with reckless indifference to Ms. Hudson’s rights. 

119. As a direct and proximate result of the wrongful actions taken by Defendant 

Tamara Johnson, Ms. Hudson has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT XI 

Retaliation in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

(Against Defendants Avery Johnson and Tamara Johnson) 

120. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

121. Section 1 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1981, prohibits 

retaliation against an individual for opposing race discrimination.  

122. Ms. Hudson engaged in protected activity when she filed a formal discrimination 

complaint on June 4, 2025, opposing race-based colorism directed at her by Defendant Tamara 

Johnson. 

123. Defendant Avery Johnson retaliated against Ms. Hudson for her protected 

opposition to race discrimination. With full knowledge that Ms. Hudson had accused his personal 

friend, Defendant Tamara Johnson, of race-based discrimination, Defendant Avery Johnson used 

his position as Chairman of the Administrative Hearing Board to engineer a guilty verdict against 

Ms. Hudson. He overrode a dissenting board member’s vote, pressured another board member to 

change his vote, and ensured that Ms. Hudson was convicted while all other officers were 

acquitted. 

124. Defendant Avery Johnson’s retaliatory conduct caused Ms. Hudson to suffer 

materially adverse consequences, including a ten-day suspension without pay, an additional ten 
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days held in abeyance, damage to her disciplinary record, and the stigma of being the sole officer 

convicted on charges from which all co-accused officers were exonerated. 

125. A causal connection exists between Ms. Hudson’s protected activity and 

Defendant Avery Johnson’s retaliatory conduct. Defendant Avery Johnson’s manipulation of the 

Board process was directed specifically at Ms. Hudson because she had accused his friend of 

race discrimination; it was not directed at the three other officers who had not engaged in such 

protected activity. 

126. Defendant Avery Johnson’s retaliatory conduct was willful, malicious, and/or 

undertaken with reckless indifference to Ms. Hudson’s rights. 

127. Following Ms. Hudson’s protected activity, Defendant Tamara Johnson retaliated 

against Ms. Hudson by intensifying her pattern of hostile and discriminatory conduct. Defendant 

Tamara Johnson issued Ms. Hudson consistently negative performance evaluations containing 

criticisms that Ms. Hudson “needs improvement,” without providing any supervisory guidance, 

mentoring, or opportunity for improvement. Upon information and belief, these negative 

evaluations commenced or intensified following Ms. Hudson’s June 4, 2025 complaint and were 

not consistent with Ms. Hudson’s actual job performance. 

128. Defendant Tamara Johnson further retaliated against Ms. Hudson by leveraging 

her network of personal friends within the Department to carry out additional retaliatory acts. 

Sergeant Bell-Riley, a known friend of Defendant Tamara Johnson, issued the retaliatory 

Uniform Deficiency Notice on September 6, 2025. Defendant Avery Johnson and Lieutenant 

Rodriguez, both known friends of Defendant Tamara Johnson, served on the Administrative 

Hearing Board and manipulated the process to convict Ms. Hudson while acquitting all other 

officers. Each of these acts were carried out by a close associate of Defendant Tamara Johnson, 
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targeted Ms. Hudson specifically, and occurred in the wake of Ms. Hudson’s complaint against 

Defendant Tamara Johnson. The coordinated nature of these acts demonstrates that Defendant 

Tamara Johnson was the animating force behind the retaliatory campaign. 

129. A causal connection exists between Ms. Hudson’s protected activity and 

Defendant Tamara Johnson’s retaliatory conduct. Ms. Hudson’s formal complaint specifically 

identified Defendant Tamara Johnson as the individual engaging in discriminatory conduct. The 

retaliatory acts that followed were directed at Ms. Hudson by Defendant Tamara Johnson herself 

and by Defendant Tamara Johnson’s personal associates, and targeted Ms. Hudson precisely 

because she had opposed Defendant Tamara Johnson’s race-based discrimination. 

130. Defendant Tamara Johnson’s retaliatory conduct was willful, malicious, and/or 

undertaken with reckless indifference to Ms. Hudson’s rights. 

131. As a direct and proximate result of retaliatory actions taken by Defendants Avery 

Johnson and Tamara Johnson, Ms. Hudson has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

COUNT XII 

Violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

(Against Defendant County) 

 

132. Ms. Hudson incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

63, above. 

133. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no 

State shall deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. 

134. A municipality may be held liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for a constitutional 

violation where the violation was caused by an official policy, custom, or practice of the 

municipality, or where the violation was committed or ratified by an official with final 

policymaking authority. 
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135. At all times relevant to this complaint, the County, acting through the Department 

of Corrections, deprived Ms. Hudson of her right to equal protection of the laws by subjecting 

her to intentional discrimination on the basis of her race and skin color and by retaliating against 

her for opposing such discrimination. Specifically, the County singled Ms. Hudson out for 

adverse treatment, as described in paragraphs 67 and 81, while treating similarly situated officers 

who had not engaged in protected activity, and who did not share Ms. Hudson’s skin complexion, 

more favorably. 

136. The County’s deprivation of Ms. Hudson’s equal protection rights was the direct 

result of an official policy, custom, or practice, and the acts and decisions of final policymakers. 

137. Director Terence K. Clark, as the Director of the Prince George’s County 

Department of Corrections, is a final policymaker for the County with respect to the imposition 

of employee discipline within the Department. Director Clark reviewed the findings and 

conclusions of the Administrative Hearing Board, accepted those findings, and issued the Final 

Notice of Disciplinary Action against Ms. Hudson on December 17, 2025. In doing so, Director 

Clark exercised final, unreviewable authority on behalf of the County to impose discipline on 

Ms. Hudson. His decision to adopt the findings of a hearing board that was corrupted by the 

participation of individuals with personal relationships to the subject of Ms. Hudson’s 

discrimination complaint, and to impose discipline on Ms. Hudson while three co-accused 

officers were acquitted on the identical charge, constitutes a final policymaking act attributable 

to the County. Upon information and belief, Director Clark was aware of the Board irregularities, 

the conflicts of interest, and the disparate outcome at the time he ratified the Board’s findings. 

138. The County’s acts of its final policymakers were the moving force behind the 

deprivation of Ms. Hudson’s constitutional right to equal protection. But for Director Clark’s 
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ratification of the corrupted Board outcome, Ms. Hudson would not have been subjected to the 

discriminatory and retaliatory treatment alleged herein. 

139. The County’s violation of Ms. Hudson’s right to equal protection was committed 

with deliberate indifference to her constitutional rights. The County was on notice that Ms. 

Hudson had reported race-based discrimination and was at risk of retaliation. Despite this 

knowledge, the County failed to take any steps to protect Ms. Hudson and instead allowed the 

retaliatory campaign to proceed and escalate. This deliberate indifference to a known risk of 

constitutional harm constitutes a policy or custom attributable to the County. 

140. As a direct and proximate result of the County’s deprivation of Ms. Hudson’s 

right to equal protection, Ms. Hudson has suffered and continues to suffer substantial harm. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Plaintiff Keisha Grace Hudson respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment on the 

Complaint, in favor of the Plaintiff and against Defendants Prince George’s County, Maryland, 

Avery Johnson, and Tamara Johnson, as follows: 

A. Declare that Defendants’ conduct, as alleged herein, constitutes unlawful race 

discrimination, sex discrimination, retaliation, and hostile work environment in violation of Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., the Maryland Fair Employment 

Practices Act, Md. Code Ann., State Gov’t § 20-601 et seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and the Prince 

George’s County Code, Subtitle 2, Division 12, §§ 2-185 et seq.; 

B. Award Ms. Hudson appropriate amounts of back pay, including all lost wages, 

overtime, shift differential compensation, and benefits lost as a result of Defendants’ unlawful 

conduct, in fair and reasonable amounts to be determined at trial; 
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C. Award Ms. Hudson compensatory damages for the harm she suffered as a result of 

Defendants’ conduct, in fair and reasonable amount to be determined at trial; 

D. Award Ms. Hudson punitive damages against Defendants Avery Johnson and 

Tamara Johnson, in an amount that sufficiently punishes, penalizes, and/or deters their unlawful 

conduct; 

E. Award Ms. Hudson the costs and fees she incurred in connection with this action, 

including reasonable attorney fees; 

F. Order that the Final Notice of Disciplinary Action dated December 17, 2025, and 

the guilty finding of the Administrative Hearing Board, be expunged from Ms. Hudson’s 

personnel file; 

G. Order that the Uniform Deficiency Notice dated September 6, 2025, and all 

negative performance evaluations issued by Defendant Tamara Johnson following Ms. Hudson’s 

June 4, 2025 discrimination complaint, be expunged from Ms. Hudson’s personnel file; 

H. Permanently enjoin Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland from retaliating 

against Ms. Hudson for exercising her rights under Title VII, the Maryland Fair Employment 

Practices Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and the Prince George’s County Code; 

I. Order Defendant Prince George’s County, Maryland to implement appropriate 

remedial measures to prevent future discrimination and retaliation within the Department of 

Corrections, including the implementation of procedures to ensure that individuals with personal 

relationships to the subject of a discrimination complaint are disqualified from serving on 

Administrative Hearing Boards that adjudicate charges against the complainant; and 

J. Grant Ms. Hudson such other relief as the Court deems just and proper, including 

additional injunctive and declaratory relief as may be required in the interest of justice.  
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 In accordance with Maryland Rule 2-325(a), Plaintiff Keisha Hudson hereby elects a trial 

by jury on all issues herein triable of right by a jury. 

Dated: March 6, 2026 

        /s/ Jordan D. Howlette  

        JORDAN D. HOWLETTE 

        MD AIS No.: 2006110003 

        Justly Prudent 

        16701 Melford Blvd., Suite 400 

        Bowie, MD 20715 

        Tel: (202) 921-6005 

        Fax: (202) 921-7102 

        jordan@justlyprudent.com 

        Counsel for Plaintiff 

 


